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June 5, 2007 
 
SENT VIA FEDERAL EXPRESS OVERNIGHT DELIVERY 
 
The Honorable Dirk Kempthorne 
Secretary of the Interior 
18th and C Streets, NW 
Washington, D.C.  20240 
 
Mr. Dale Hall, Director 
United States Fish and Wildlife Service 
1849 C Street N.W., Room 3012 
Washington, D.C. 20240-0001 

Chief, Division of Scientific Authority 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 
4401 N. Fairfax Drive, Room 750 
Arlington, VA 22203 

 
RE:  Sixty Day Notice of Intent to Sue Over Violations of Section 4 of the Endangered 

Species Act; Failure to Make a 90-Day Finding on the Petition to List Twelve 
Species of Penguins under the Endangered Species Act 

 
Dear Mr. Kempthorne and Mr. Hall: 
 

I am writing on behalf of the Center for Biological Diversity (“the Center”) to inform you 
that we intend to commence an action against the U.S. Department of the Interior and the U.S. 
Fish and Wildlife Service (collectively, “the Service”) for violations of the Endangered Species 
Act, 16 U.S.C. §§1531-1544 (“ESA”), and the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 551-
559 (“APA”).  This letter is provided to you pursuant to the 60-day notice requirement of the 
ESA’s citizen suit provision.  16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(2).  The reasons for this notice are set forth 
fully below.   
 

On November 28, 2006, the Center submitted a formal, detailed petition to list twelve of 
the world’s penguin species under the ESA (“Petition”).  The Petition was received on 
November 29, 2006, and acknowledged by the Service by letter dated December 4, 2006.  The 
Service is in violation of the law because it has failed to make the required determination of 
whether listing the twelve penguin species under the ESA “may be warranted” pursuant to ESA 
Section 4.   
 

No matter how imperiled a species might be, it does not receive any protection under the 
ESA until it is officially listed as threatened or endangered.  As a result, Congress aptly 
described Section 4 of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. §1533, the section that sets out the process for listing 
species, as “[t]he cornerstone of effective implementation of the Endangered Species Act ....”  S. 
Rep. No. 418, 97th Cong., 2d Sess. at 10; see also H. Rep. No. 567, 97th Cong., 2d Sess. at 10.
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Section 4 sets forth a detailed process by which the Secretary of Interior through her 

designee the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service adds to the list of threatened and endangered species.  
16 U.S.C. §1533.  The listing process can begin either by citizen petition or by internal Service 
processes.  In either case, strict timelines apply once the process is initiated.   In most cases, as 
here, the process begins when a petition for listing is received by the Service.  16 U.S.C. 
§1533(b)(3)(A).  

 
Upon receipt of a petition to list a species under the ESA, the Service must determine 

whether the petition “presents substantial scientific or commercial information indicating that the 
petitioned action may be warranted.”  Id.  The Service must make this initial, “90-Day Finding,” 
“[t]o the maximum extent practicable, within 90 days after receiving the petition.”  Id.  If the 
Service determines that the petition presents substantial information that a listing may be 
warranted, it must “promptly commence a review of the status of the species” to determine 
whether listing is (1) warranted, (2) not warranted, or (3) warranted but precluded by other 
pending proposals that require immediate attention.  16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(B).  This finding, 
known as the 12-Month Finding, is due “within 12 months after receiving a petition.”  Id.  The 
Service has no discretion to extend time allotted for the 12-Month Finding.   

 
If the 12-Month Finding concludes that listing is warranted, the Service must 

simultaneously publish a proposed rule to list the species in the Federal Register.  16 U.S.C. 
§ 1533(b)(3)(B)(ii).  Within 12 months of publishing the proposed rule, the Service must make a 
final listing determination for the species.  At this point, the Service must either publish a final 
rule listing the species, publish a withdrawal of the proposal, or in the rare instance where there 
is substantial disagreement about scientific data, delay a final determination for up to six months 
to solicit more scientific information.  16 U.S.C. §§ 1533(b)(6)(A)(i) & 1533(b)(6)(B)(i).   

 
The Petition to list the penguin species was filed on November 28, 2006, and received by 

the Service on November 29, 2006.  The Petitioned Species are as follows: 
 
COMMON NAME    SCIENTIFIC NAME 
 
Emperor Penguin    Aptenodytes forsteri 
Southern Rockhopper Penguin  Eudyptes chrysocome 

Southern Rockhopper Penguin  Eudyptes chrysocome chrysocome 
Eastern Rockhopper Penguin   Eudyptes chrysocome filholi 

Northern Rockhopper Penguin  Eudyptes moseleyi (E. chrysocome moseleyi) 
Fiordland Crested Penguin   Eudyptes pachyrhynchus 
Snares Crested Penguin   Eudyptes robustus 
Erect-crested Penguin    Eudyptes sclateri 
Macaroni Penguin    Eudyptes chrysolophus 
Royal Penguin     Eudyptes schlegeli 
White-flippered Penguin   Eudyptula albosignata (E. minor albosignata) 
Yellow-eyed Penguin    Megadyptes antipodes 
African Penguin    Spheniscus demersu 
Humboldt Penguin    Spheniscus humboldti 
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Over six months have now passed, and the Service has yet to issue the required 90-Day 

Finding.  The Service is therefore in violation of the ESA and APA for failing to make this 
required finding.  Moreover, because the Service has no discretion to delay the required 12-
Month Finding, the Service may not delay issuance of a 90-Day Finding such that compliance 
with the 12-Month Finding becomes impossible.  If the Service does not issue a 90-Day Finding 
on the Petition promptly, compliance with the 12-Month Finding will be impossible, leading to 
an unacceptable delay in protection for these penguin species and further legal violations by the 
Service.  

 
As detailed in the Petition, the overarching threat to the all of the penguin species is 

global warming caused by society’s emissions of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases.  
The administration has renounced the Kyoto Protocol and has yet to adopt any meaningful plan 
for reducing greenhouse gas emissions. As a result, the United States is responsible for 
approximately 25% of the world’s total greenhouse gas emissions and United States emissions 
continue to grow.  Atmospheric carbon dioxide concentrations now stand at over 380 parts per 
million (“ppm”), up from a pre-industrial revolution concentration of 280 ppm, and are rising at 
more than 2 ppm per year.  Thus, the threat to the penguin species from global warming has 
increased since the filing of the petition, and will continue to do so.  These penguins, the 
petitioning organizations and their members, and the public are entitled to timely processing of 
the Petition within the deadlines set by Congress. 

 
The Service’s failure to comply with the ESA’s deadlines for processing the Petition 

deprives the penguin species of statutorily mandated protection vitally necessary for their 
survival.  Any further delay by the Service in response to the petition frustrates the intent of the 
ESA, because the likelihood of survival and recovery of the species is reduced due to continued 
harm to the species from global warming, overfishing, oil spills, and other threats detailed in the 
Petition. 
 

The Center’s members and staff are vitally concerned about and actively involved in the 
protection of these penguin species and their habitat.  The Noticing Parties’ members and staff 
engage in professional, recreational, aesthetic and scientific activities involving this species and 
its arctic habitat, including observing and attempting to observe these penguin species.  On their 
behalf I urge you to take prompt action to protect the species under the ESA.   
 

If the Service does not act promptly to correct the above violations, we intend to pursue 
legal action.   An appropriate remedy would be to promptly issue and publish in the Federal 
Register a 90-Day Finding on the Petition.  If you have any questions, or would like to discuss 
this matter further, please contact Kassie Siegel at (760) 366-2232 x302. 
 
Sincerely, 

 

        
Kassie R. Siegel, Climate, Air, and Energy Program Director   
Center for Biological Diversity 
P.O. Box 549 
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Joshua Tree,  CA  92252 
(760) 366-2232 x302 

 


